FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 6 1998 -

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93,832

CLERK, SUARA COURT By_ Onief Debuty Clerk

RABBI ROBERT A. GOODMAN,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

vs.

TEMPLE SHIR AMI, INC., a Florida non-profit corporation, and RICHARD ASHENOFF,

Defendants/Respondents.

Petition to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

RAYMOND L. ROBIN, P.A. Raymond L. Robin, Esq. Florida Bar No. 613835 1121 South 21st Avenue Hollywood, Florida 33020 (954) 920-3003

Attorney for Petitioner Rabbi Robert A. Goodman

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner Robert Goodman is a Rabbi who was employed by Respondent Temple Shir Ami. [TB:18]¹ Respondent Ashenoff is a professional, private investigator, who at all times material to this case, served on the board of directors of Temple Shir Ami (the "Board of Directors") and on its executive committee (the "Executive Committee"). [R:651] [TB:93] [R:654-55] Appellee Temple Shir Ami is a reform synagogue which is congregational in structure² -- it is an entirely autonomous and independent congregation, without affiliation to any national religious organization. [R:475;494] It is simply governed by its own bylaws. Temple Shir Ami has no tribunal, court or other judicial body for resolving its disputes. [A:664]

In April 1991, Rabbi Goodman entered into a written employment contract (the "First Contract") with Temple Shir Ami to serve as its Rabbi for an initial term of two years ending on June 30, 1993. [TB:9; EXA] The First Contract provided that Rabbi Goodman could only be terminated for cause. It made no provision for venue or

2 Courts have drawn a distinction between religious entities that are congregational versus hierarchical. Whereas hierarchical organizations have institutions established for resolving disputes within the organization, congregational organizations do not.

¹ All references to the record on appeal in the Third District Court of Appeal are cited as [R:]. All references to the transcripts of the hearings held on October 30, 1996, January 23, 1997, and February 13, 1997 will be cited as [TA:], [TB:], [TC:] respectively. All references to the Exhibits are cited as [Ex], and to Appellants' Appendix to the Initial Brief in the Third District Court of Appeal as [A:].

choice of law and did not indicate how disputes between the parties would be resolved.

In December 1993, approximately six months before the First Contract was to expire, the Board authorized Brian Mirson, then President of Temple Shir Ami, to negotiate a new contract with Rabbi Goodman with the term commencing on July 1, 1994. [TB:27] After several discussions, Mirson and Rabbi Goodman agreed on the material terms of the new contract which would extend for three years after the First Contract expired, with an option for two additional years (the "Second Contract"). [TB:28-30] Mirson prepared a memorandum outlining the material terms of the Second Contract (the "Memorandum"). [TB:30]

The Memorandum was presented to the Board of Directors at a board meeting held on February 9, 1994. [ExC:3] The Board of Directors approved and agreed to the terms of the Second Contract as set forth in the Memorandum. [ExC:3] The minutes of the meeting expressly and clearly state that the Board of Directors approved the Second Contract. The minutes were duly signed by the secretary of Temple Shir Ami. [ExC:3]

A few weeks after the February 9 board meeting, certain members of the Executive Committee discussed the possibility of repudiating the Second Contract. [R:575-580, 582] These discussions culminated in a telephone conference meeting of the Executive Committee held on Thursday, March 24, 1994. [R:595] During the meeting, the Executive Committee decided to reopen the issue of the Second Contract and to attempt to cancel the Temple

Shir Ami's approval of it. [R:595] Although the By-Laws of Temple Shir Ami clearly provide that any individual whose continued employment is being considered by the Executive Committee "shall have an opportunity to make a presentation on [his/her] own behalf," <u>By-Laws</u>, Article VII(E)(5), Rabbi Goodman was not advised that the meeting was going to take place, was not invited to attend the meeting, and was not able to address or respond to any of the allegations which were made against him at that meeting. [ExE:11] [TB:45-46]

The Executive Committee then called an emergency meeting of the Board of Directors to discuss Rabbi Goodman the very next [TB:46] Temple Shir Ami's By-laws require that Board evening. Members be given notice of a special meeting "at least three (3) practical, prior to the Special days, or as soon as Meeting."(Emphasis Added.) <u>By-laws</u> Article (V)(k). [ExE:8] No notice was given to members of the general congregation. [R:598]

At the emergency meeting, Ashenoff, the private investigator, said that he had undertaken an investigation of Rabbi Goodman. Ashenoff falsely and maliciously advised the Board that he had learned that Rabbi Goodman had viciously attacked another Rabbi at the temple where he had been employed prior to coming to work for Temple Shir Ami in 1991. [TB:93-94] The Executive Committee advised the Board of Directors that based on this new information, it recommended that Temple Shir Ami cancel the Second Contract set to begin on July 1, 1994. [TB:93] The Board of Directors then conducted a secret ballot and voted to oust Rabbi Goodman. [TB:96]

The next day, Mirson delivered a letter to the members of the congregation of Temple Shir Ami stating, in relevant part:

While meeting to discuss details of the Rabbi's contract, circumstances regarding the Rabbi's <u>continued inappropriate conduct</u> surfaced. Although no one action constituted reason for censure, the multitude of issues, along with the <u>pattern of previous concerns</u>, forced the Executive Committee to re-evaluate its position [T]he time has come for Rabbi Goodman and Temple Shir Ami to part company. (Emphasis added). [ExD:1]

In addition, the Board of Directors authorized and instructed its members and other representatives to call the congregants individually and advise them of the decision to repudiate the Second Contract. [R:82] During those conversations, numerous false statements were made to the congregants that Rabbi Goodman had not only committed a crime amounting to aggravated battery upon another human being but had also violated the confidences of congregants. [R:82]

Rabbi Goodman filed this action in September 1994. [R:1] Rabbi Goodman sued Ashenoff for damages for defamation and tortious interference with an advantageous business relationship and/or tortious interference with the Second Contract. [R:77-97] Rabbi Goodman sued Temple Shir Ami for breach of the First Contract³ and the Second Contract, wrongful termination, and defamation. [R:77-97] The "wrongful termination" claim against Temple Shir Ami is

³ Because it withheld Rabbi Goodman's paychecks and other payments due under the First Contract, Rabbi Goodman sued Temple Shir Ami for breach of the First Contract for withheld salary payments for work performed.

based on the fact that Temple Shir Ami's "termination" of Rabbi Goodman was in direct violation of its By-laws which require that:

- considered [during The individual being the (a) have Executive Committee Meeting] <u>sha</u>ll an opportunity to make a presentation on [his/her] own <u>By-laws</u>, Article VII(E)(5). (Emphasis behalf. added).
- (c) The President shall cause notice [for emergency meetings] to be issued to <u>all</u> Board members, <u>at</u> <u>least three (3) days</u>, or as soon as practical, <u>prior</u> to the Special Meeting. <u>By-laws</u>, Article VII(E)(4) and Article V(K). (Emphasis added). [ExE:10;118] [R:86-90]

In all of his claims against Temple Shir Ami, Rabbi Goodman seeks only damages. [TB:54]

In response to the Complaint, both Temple Shir Ami and Ashenoff filed motions to dismiss based on the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. [R:55-58, 130-134] After the trial court denied the Motions to Dismiss, the Appellees filed a Petition for Writ of Prohibition to the Third District Court of Appeal. The district court denied the Petition and sent the matter back to the trial court for a more complete development of the facts.

On remand, the trial court severely limited discovery and, after an evidentiary hearing, dismissed all of Rabbi Goodman's claims against Temple Shir Ami and Ashenoff on the basis that the issues raised in the action against the Temple were ecclesiastic in nature and outside the jurisdiction of the court.

Rabbi Goodman appealed to the Third District Court which, in large part agreed with the trial court, and affirmed the dismissal.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and consider the merits of Rabbi Goodman's claims against Richard Ashenoff and Temple Shir Ami.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court should take jurisdiction over this matter because it raises issues of great public importance. Rabbi Goodman has been denied access to the courts of Florida based on the Third District Court of Appeal's interpretation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. Such interpretation conflicts with Florida's constitutional guarantee of access to the courts.

The Court should also take jurisdiction because the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal is in conflict with a decision of this Court. This Court has previously ruled that Florida courts may consider cases involving the interpretation of a religious organization's rules of order especially where that religious organization is congregational. The Third District Court of Appeal's interpretation of the First Amendment is in conflict with this Court's prior decision.

Finally, the Court should take jurisdiction over this matter because policy decisions made by the Third District Court of Appeal in this case have serious consequences on a large number of citizens of the State of Florida. Accordingly, this Court is the appropriate body to make those policy decisions.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>The Court should take jurisdiction over this matter</u> <u>because it involves a matter of great public</u> <u>importance.</u>

Petitioner urges the Court to take jurisdiction of this matter because it involves a matter of great public importance. Under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution, all citizens are guaranteed access to courts for "redress of any injury." The trial court's order and the district court's opinion in this case effectively deny the Petitioner access to the Courts of this State and the right to redress for wrongs committed against him. This is especially true because Rabbi Goodman has no "reasonable alternative means of redress" because the Respondent, Temple Shir Ami, is a congregational organization; it has no tribunal wherein internal disputes can be resolved. Furthermore, the Petitioner is being denied equal protection under the law simply on the basis that he is a religious leader.

As this Court pointed out a long time ago: "For every wrong there is a remedy." <u>Holland v. Mayes</u>, 155 Fla. 129, 19 So.2d 709 (1944). It is a matter of great public importance when any citizen is denied access to our Courts for redress of the wrongs committed against him.

Rabbi Goodman initiated this action four years ago to enforce a Contract voluntarily entered into by his employer. Since that time, the courts have done no more than close their doors to him even though it is absolutely clear that Rabbi Goodman has

absolutely no other redress for the wrongs committed against him. This case is not an isolated instance. Similar issues have arisen in other cases where religious organizations have raised the First Amendment to avoid their secular obligations and duties. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Doe v. Evans</u>, 23 Fa. L. Week D2077 (Fla. 4th DCA Sept. 9, 1998).

It is important that this Court consider and clarify this issue not only for the instant Petitioner but for all of those similarly situated.

II. <u>The Court should take jurisdiction in this matter because the</u> <u>decision of the District Court is in conflict with this</u> <u>Courts' Prior Decision.</u>

The lower court's ruling conflicts with a decision of this Court and other district courts. Part of the case brought by Rabbi Goodman involves the claim that Temple Shir Ami failed to follow its own bylaws in repudiating the Employment Contract it had with Rabbi Goodman by failing to provide him with an opportunity to be heard and by failing to provide adequate notice for the so-called emergency meeting. A determination by the Court as to whether or not the religious organization followed its own bylaws does not constitute a religious issue but is an issue that may properly be determined by the Courts.

In <u>Epperson v. Myers</u>, 58 So. 2d 150 (Fla. 1952), this Court held that civil courts have authority to decide disputes concerning a religious organization's failure to comply with its own rules of order. Other Florida courts have decided cases following this

precedent. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Hemphill v. Zion Hope Primitive Baptist</u> <u>Church</u>, 447 So. 2d 976 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); <u>Covington v. Bowers</u>, 442 So. 2d 1068 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); <u>Umberger v. Johns</u>, 363 So. 2d 63 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). The lower courts' interpretation of the Constitution, refusing to even consider the claims grounded upon this established precedent, should be considered by this Court. Supreme Court review is necessary to clarify the confusion over different applications of the rule set forth in <u>Epperson v. Myers</u> that Florida Courts have jurisdiction to consider whether a congregational religious organization has followed its own rules of order.

III. <u>The Court should take jurisdiction to consider Rabbi Goodman's</u> <u>claims against Richard Ashenoff.</u>

Although recognizing that whether to dismiss Rabbi Goodman's claims against Richard Ashenoff was a closer question than those involved in Rabbi Goodman's claims against Temple Shir Ami, the trial court dismissed all of Rabbi Goodman's claims against Ashenoff. The district court affirmed the decision. In doing so, the lower courts made the decision that individual members of a religious organization are to be given the same protection as religious organizations. The consequence of their decision is that individuals associated with religious organizations, such as Ashenoff, may now commit torts against their religious leaders with complete impunity. There is no precedent in Florida to support such a decision. In fact, the Florida case most on point, dealing with a suit by a Rabbi against a member of the Board for

defamation, <u>Schreidell v. Shoter</u>, 500 So. 2d 228 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), <u>review denied</u>, 511 So. 2d 299 (Fla. 1987), permitted the case to proceed and provided the Board member only a qualified privilege. The lower courts' interpretation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to Ashenoff is completely unsupported by any Florida precedent. The immunity granted individuals associated with religious organizations by the opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal has substantial consequences on religious leaders within the state of Florida. It is therefore, important that the Supreme Court consider the policy implications of the position taken by the Third District Court of Appeal.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing, Petitioner Rabbi Robert A. Goodman respectfully requests that the Court grant him review and consider his appeal.