ORIGINAL

FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT. 29 1998

In the Supreme Court of Florida

CLERY SUPREME COURT

Case no. 93,832

RABBI ROBERT A. GOODMAN,

PETITIONER,

VS.

TEMPLE SHIR AMI and RICHARD ASHENOFF,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

On Discretionary Review from the Third District Court of Appeal

Conroy, Simberg & Ganon, P.A. 155 South Miami Avenue Suite IIII Miami, FL 33130

-AND-

Law Office of Robert S. Glazier The Ingraham Building, Suite 1020 25 S.E. Second Avenue Miami, FL 33131 (305) 372-5900

Attorneys for Temple Shir Ami

Melvin S. Black, Esq. 2937 S.W. 27TH AVENUE SUITE 202
Miami, FL 33133

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Rabbi Goodman's Statement of the Case and Facts for the most part is based on materials outside the opinion of the district court of appeal, such as the trial transcripts and documents in the record on appeal. Those matters should be disregarded. *See Reaves v. State*, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986).

The most important omission in the Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts is his failure to note that the district court of appeal held that one of Rabbi Goodman's claims—his claim for breach of the first contract—could be decided by the civil courts.

Otherwise, we adopt that facts as stated in the opinion of the district court of appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court should not exercise jurisdiction over this case.

Two of the Petitioner's arguments—that the case presents an issue of great public importance and that the decision of the Third DCA conflicts with another decision of the Third DCA—are not grounds for Supreme Court jurisdiction.

Furthermore, the decision of the district court does not conflict with any other Florida decision. This case involved a dispute between a Rabbi and his synagogue. The opinions which are claimed to be the basis for conflict involved schisms within religious institutions, not employment disputes.

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE

This brief is in Adobe Caslon, 14 point.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION OVER A CASE SIMPLY BECAUSE THE CASE (ALLEGEDLY) INVOLVES A MATTER OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

Rabbi Goodman first suggests that the Court should grant review because the case involves a matter of great public importance.

This Court has jurisdiction to hear cases involving great public importance only if the district court certifies the question as being of great public importance. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(2)(A)(v); Art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const. Here, there was no such certification, so there is no basis for jurisdiction.

II. THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IS NOT IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN Epperson v. Myers

Rabbi Goodman has failed to establish that the district court decision is in express and direct conflict with another decision on the same issue of law.

The district court opinion addressed the question of whether the civil courts may exercise jurisdiction over a clergyman's breach of contract and tort claims against his former church/synagogue, where the claims arose

from the religious institution's selection of its religious leader. Courts across the country have addressed this issue, and almost uniformly have held that such claims may not be resolved by the civil courts. See, e.g., Young v. Northern Illinois Conference of United Methodist Church, 21 F.3d 184 (7th Cir. 1994); Tran v. Fiorenza, 934 S.W.2d 740 (Tex. Ct. App. 1996).

Rabbi Goodman asserts that the decision of the district court conflicts with Florida judicial decisions which—he claims—have held that civil courts have authority to decide disputes concerning a religious organization's failure to comply with its own rules of order.

However, the cases which Rabbi Goodman relies upon in support of his claim of conflict jurisdiction do not involve employment disputes between religious institutions and clergy. Rather, they involve church property disputes or disputes between competing factions within a church. See Epperson v. Myers, 58 So. 2d 150 (Fla. 1952) (dispute over which faction controlled church); Hemphill v. Zion Hope Primitive Baptist Church, 447 So. 2d 976 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (dispute among church members about continued employment of pastor, where it was unclear who had authority to make the employment decision); Covington v. Bowers, 442 So. 2d 1068 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (dispute over which faction controlled church); Umberger v.

Johns, 363 So. 2d 63 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) (dispute over which faction controlled church).

This Court has noted that there is an "abounding array of authorities" which grow out of "church schisms in which both factions lay claim to the church property." St. John's Presbytery v. Central Presbyterian Church, 102 So. 2d 714, 718 (Fla. 1958). When a church is divided, with both factions making claim to being the true church, there must be a determination of who has control of the church and the property. This sort of dispute must be resolved for various reasons, some practical (who is responsible for paying the water bill? who do the police listen to when called to evict a trespasser?), and some to keep the peace (if no procedure for resolution of the conflict is provided, the factions may resort to physical force).

While the cases upon which Rabbi Goodman relies are church schism cases, there was no schism within Temple Shir Ami. There was merely a dispute between a synagogue and its Rabbi. The cases do not establish conflict.

Moreover, even if there were arguable conflict, there is still no reason for the Court to exercise its discretion in favor of jurisdiction. The decision of the district court is unexceptional. It is well established that "religious

bodies may make apparently arbitrary decisions affecting the employment status of their clergy members and be free from civil review having done so." Young v. Northern Illinois Conference of United Methodist Church, 21 F.3d 184, 187 (7th Cir. 1994). There is no "arbitrariness" exception to the general rule against civil court review of decisions of religious bodies. Serbian Eastern Orthodox Diocese v. Milivojevich, 426 U.S. 696 (1976). The district court merely followed these precedents.

Indeed, the moderation of the district court's decision can be seen from the fact that the court concluded that some claims—those for breach of the first contract—were properly within the jurisdiction of the civil courts.

There is no reason for the Court to review this case.

III. THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION IN Schreidell v. Shoter IS NOT A BASIS FOR CONFLICT JURISDICTION

In support of his argument for jurisdiction over the claims against Richard Ashenoff, Rabbi Goodman relies upon the Third District decision in Schreidell v. Shoter, 500 So. 2d 228 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). However, conflict within a district is not a basis for Supreme Court jurisdiction. See State v. Walker, 593 So. 2d 1049 (Fla. 1992). Such alleged conflict is to be resolved by the district court en banc. Rabbi Goodman sought en banc review,

but the Third District concluded that there was no intra-district conflict, presumably based on the fact that the jurisdictional issue was never raised in the *Schreidell* case. Because of this Court's limited jurisdiction, the matter ends there.

CONCLUSION

Temple Shir Ami and Richard Ashenoff request that the Court deny the petition for discretionary review.